73626-4

73626 4

No. 73626-4-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION ONE

CARLOS BENITEZ, JR.,
Appellant,

v.

SKAGIT COUNTY,
Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

The Honorable Charles R. Snyder, Judge

2019 DEC 14 11:42
STATE OF WASHINGTON
COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Carlos Benitez, Jr. #715131
Appellant

AIRWAY HEIGHTS CORRECTIONS CENTER
P.O. Box 2049 L-B-19-L
Airway Heights, WA 99001

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in ruling that Benitez did not meet his burden of proving Skagit County acted in bad faith in denying his request for public records, and in finding that Benitez was not entitled to penalties.

2. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment and dismissal because there existed genuine issues of material fact precluding judgment in favor of the County.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the County act in bad faith when it relied on invalid and/or inapplicable exemptions to deny Benitez' public records request? (Assignment of Error 1.)

2. Did the County act in bad faith when it failed to promptly respond to Benitez' public records request? (Assignment of Error 1.)

3. Did the County act in bad faith by distinguishing among persons making public records requests? (Assignment of Error 1.)

4. Did the County act in bad faith when it failed to provide Benitez with an explanation of how the claimed exemptions applied? (Assignment of Error 1.)

5. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment and dismissal where genuine issues of material fact preclude judgment in favor of the County? (Assignment of Error 2.)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 17, 2012, Carlos Benitez, Jr. ("Benitez"), submitted a Public Records Act (PRA) request to Linda Roton, records officer for the Skagit County Interlocal Drug Enforcement Unit ("SCIDEU"), for records pertaining to SCIDEU case No. 09-TF049 and Benitez' criminal case. In this request, Benitez requested:

1. Any and all application(s) requesting search and seizure, and the warrants associated with the requests;
2. Any and all application(s) and/or authorization(s) to intercept and/or record private conversation(s) or communication(s); and
3. Any transcript of any recorded private conversation(s) and/or communication(s).

Clerk's Papers ("CP") 110-11.

On June 27, 2012, Detective L. Craig responded to Benitez' records request, informing Benitez that additional time was needed to respond to his request and "[they] currently anticipate being able to respond on or around July 24, 2012." CP 139. Detective Craig gave no reason why additional time was needed, and he estimated around 30 days to respond. Id.

On July 26, 2012, after Detective Craig's estimated time to respond had elapsed, SCIDEU Chief, Tom Molitor ("Molitor"), responded to Benitez' record request, informing Benitez that additional time was needed to respond to his request and "[they] currently anticipate being able to respond by August 3, 2012." CP 140. Molitor gave no reason why additional time

was needed to respond, and he estimated around 14 days to respond. Id.

On August 6, 2012, Molitor responded to Benitez' request. In his response, Molitor stated (1) that the first installment of records was prepared, (2) that they anticipate being able to provide the next installment on or around September 10, 2012, (3) that they had not been able to locate any transcript of any recorded private conversation, and (4) that the cost of the records was \$3.00 for 25 pages and upon receipt of payment the records would be mailed to Benitez. CP 141.

On August 21, 2012, after receiving payment for the records, Molitor sent Benitez 28 pages of documents. With the exception of two pages of documents (Search warrant pertaining to SCIDEU case No. 09-TF049), the documents Molitor provided pertained to Burlington Police Department case No. 09-P08177. The documents consisted of two blank pages and repetitious copies of a search warrant and affidavit pertaining to that case. CP 141-149.

On August 21, 2012, Benitez responded to the records Molitor had sent him. Benitez informed Molitor that the records Molitor had provided were nonresponsive to his request. Benitez' letter set forth an itemized list of the records that he had received, clarified his request, informed Molitor that Benitez had previously examined a transcript of the recorded conversation

that was intercepted on September 17, 2009, and again requested that Molitor produce the records requested. CP 170-73.

On September 5, 2012, Molitor responded to Penitez' August 21, 2012 letter, informing Benitez that additional time was needed to respond to his letter and "[they] currently anticipate being able to respond by September 28, 2012." CP 174. Molitor gave no reason why additional time was needed to respond, and he estimated around 20 days to respond. Id.

On October 8, 2012, after not receiving a response by Molitor's estimated date, Benitez sent Molitor a letter inquiring why Molitor had not met his estimated response date. Benitez' letter informed Molitor that numerous additional time estimates to respond had been made without any reasonable explanation, yet Benitez still had not been provided with the records requested; that Benitez had provided more than a reasonable amount of time for Molitor to produce the records; that any further additional time estimates to respond would be interpreted as a denial of the records; and, that if the records were not provided within 10 days, Benitez would be filing a complaint for violations of his rights under the PRA. CP 175-76.

On October 17, 2012, Benitez received a letter from Molitor dated October 5, 2012, informing Benitez that additional time was needed to respond to his August 21, 2012 letter and

"[they] currently anticipate being able to respond by October 22, 2012." CP 177. Molitor gave no reason why additional time to respond was needed, and he estimated around 17 days to respond. *Id.*

On October 25, 2012, after Molitor's estimated time for a response had elapsed, Chief Don McDermott responded to Benitez' request, informing him that additional time was needed to respond to Benitez' August 21, 2012 letter and "[they] currently anticipate being able to respond by November 8, 2012." CP 178. Chief McDermott gave no reason why additional time was needed to respond, and he estimated around 14 days to respond. *Id.*

On November 8, 2012, Molitor again sent Benitez the two documents pertaining to SCIDEU case No. 09-TF049 which were previously provided on August 21, 2012. Molitor informed Benitez that 19 pages of documents were being withheld, claiming they were exempt from disclosure pursuant to (1) court orders signed by Judge Needy on March 23, 2011; May 25, 2011; and October 26, 2012, (2) Superior Court Criminal Rule 4.7, and (3) RCW 42.56.240(1) and (2). CP 179. Molitor did not provide Benitez any explanation of how the exceptions applied to the records requested. *Id.*

On November 18, 2012, Benitez appealed the October 26, 2012 order. CP 193. On appeal, Benitez argued that the October

26, 2012 order ("Order") barred him from obtaining from public agencies records that are presumotively available under the PRA and that the Order violated multiple provisions of the PRA, among other things. CP 196.

Relying on O'Connor v. Dept. of Soc. & Health Servs., Respondent's counsel, A.C. Denny,¹ argued that the Order did not "conflict with precedent that distinguishes between discovery obligations and PRA requests," acknowledging that Benitez "may seek public records ... under the pretrial rules of discovery but is not precluded from seeking those records under the Public Records Act." CP 59 (quoting O'Connor, 143 Wn.2d at 907). Further, Mr. Denny argued that "there is no exemption under the PRA for post-conviction discovery even if a protective order has been issued" and that "RCW 42.56.290 does not apply because the police reports, etc. were available to Benitez as pretrial discovery." CP 59, n. 2.

On August 5, 2013, while the appeal of the Order was pending, Benitez filed a lawsuit against Skagit County ("County") for violations of the PRA. CP 3. Benitez alleged that the County violated the PRA by failing to provide valid exemptions for nondisclosure of the records requested, failing to make public records promptly available to Benitez,

¹ A.C. Denny was counsel for the State in case No. C06402117, and a counsel for the County in case No. C06402117.

failing to provide Benitez the fullest assistance, failing to explain why the records were not promptly produced, failing to provide any justification for the estimates of time needed to supply the records, and failing to supply the records within the estimated time for production. CP 9.

Further, Benitez alleged that the County acted in bad faith by intentionally violating the PRA and failing to supply the records requested, by distinguishing among persons requesting records, by substituting the records requested with non-responsive records, and by determining what information was and was not appropriate for Benitez to know. CP 9-10.

On December 10, 2013, Mr. Denny informed Benitez that, upon further review, he had determined the records could be released to Benitez with redactions, and thus provided Benitez with redacted copies of the records, including a copy of the transcript Molitor claimed he could not locate. CP 80-81.

On December 23, 2013, after the County failed to file an answer to Benitez complaint, Benitez filed for default judgment against the County. CP 12-84.

On January 14, 2014,, the County filed its answer to Benitez' complaint. CP 85.

On April 23, 2014, in the appeal of the October 26, 2012 order, the Court of Appeals accepted the State's concession that the order should be vacated because Benitez was entitled

to notice and an opportunity to be heard on the motion and on entry of the order. CP 196-97. The Court remanded to vacate the order. CP 197.

On June 20, 2014, the Court of Appeals issued its Mandate terminating review in the appeal of the October 26, 2012. CP 198. And, on July 2, 2014, the Skagit County Superior Court vacated the order. CP 199.

On July 25, 2014, Benitez moved for partial summary judgment as to the County's liability for violations of the PRA. CP 90-101. The County did not oppose Benitez motion for summary judgment and conceded that it violated the PRA by not releasing the records to Benitez. CP 213-219. The trial court entered judgment in favor of Benitez, concluding that the County violated the PRA, and reserved the issue of whether Benitez was entitled to penalties. CP 221.

On March 23, 2015, the County moved for summary judgment on the issue of bad faith and per diem penalties. CP 223. Benitez filed a response to the County's summary judgment motion. CP 340-46. And the County filed a reply to Benitez' response. CP 371-76.

On May 13, 2015, the trial court held its hearing on the County's summary judgment motion regarding the issue of bad faith. At this hearing, Benitez provided documentary evidence demonstrating that the County acted in bad faith when it denied

Benitez' records request by (1) relying on invalid exemptions to withhold public records, (2) ignoring the PRA's procedural requirements, (3) delaying a response to Benitez' records request, (4) providing no-answers to Benitez' requests, (5) failing to provide any reason for numerous estimates of additional time needed to respond to Benitez' records request, (6) failing to respond by its estimated time for a response, (7) withholding public records based on its own motives and not on compliance with the PRA, (8) distinguishing among persons requesting public records, and (9) failing to provide an explanation of how the claimed exemptions applied.

Despite the evidence presented, the trial court granted the County's motion for summary judgment on the issue of bad faith and per diem penalties. The trial court concluded that Benitez failed to meet his burden of proving the County acted in bad faith, and the trial court found that Benitez was not entitled to penalties. CP 386-87.

On June 11, 2015, Benitez filed his Notice of Appeal in this matter. CP 333.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate courts review agency actions under the PRA de novo. RCW 42.56.050(3). This Court "stands in the same position as the trial court where the record consists only of affidavits

memoranda of law, and other documentary evidence." Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. University of Washington, 125 Wn.2d 243, 252, 884 P.2d 592 (1995) ("PAWS"). Therefore, it is not bound by the trial court's conclusions or factual findings on whether or not the County acted in bad faith.

Granting summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, affidavits, interrogatories, depositions and exhibits show there are no genuine issues of material fact. The moving party is then entitled to judgment on the issues presented as a matter of law. Havens v. C&D Plastics, Inc., 124 Wn.2d 158, 177, 876 P.2d 435 (1994). When reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion regarding the claims of disputed facts, such questions may be determined as a matter of law. Corbally v. Kennewick School Dist., 94 Wn.App. 736, 740, 937 P.2d 1074 (1999). Any doubts as to the existence of genuine issues of material fact will be resolved against the movant. Magula v. Benton Franklin Title Co., 131 Wn.2d 171, 182, 930 P.2d 307 (1997). A material fact is a fact upon which the outcome of the case depends, in whole or in part. Clements v. Travelers Indem. Co., 121 Wn2d 243, 249, 850 P.2d 1298 (1993)(citation omitted). When a trial court makes a evidentiary determination on summary judgment the appellate court conducts the same inquiry as the trial court. Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998).

B. JUDICIAL REVIEW OF AN AGENCY'S RESPONSE TO A PUBLIC RECORDS ACT REQUEST IS REVIEWED WITH ALL INFERENCES TO BE CONSTRUED IN FAVOR OF THE PARTY SEEKING THE RECORDS

The Public Records Act is set forth in RCW 42.56 to seq.

"The purpose of the Public Records Act is to preserve 'the most central tenets of representative government, namely, the sovereignty of the people and the accountability to the people of public officials and institutions.'" O'Connor v. Dept. of Soc. & Health Servs., 143 Wn.2d 895, 25 P.3d 426 (2001)(quoting PAWS, 125 Wn.2d at 251).

The people of this state do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies that serve them. The people, in delegating authority, do give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on remaining informed so that they may maintain control over the instruments that they have created. This matter shall be liberally construed and its exceptions narrowly construed to promote this public policy.

RCW 42.56.030.

It is "a strongly worded mandate for broad disclosure of public records." Prison Legal News, Inc. v. Dept. of Corrections, 154 Wn.2d 628, 635, 11 P.3d 318 (2005). The Public Records Act provides that "[i]nstitutional records of all agency actions taken or challenged under [RCW 42.56.030 through 42.56.920] shall be de novo." O'Connor, 143 Wn.2d at 904(quoting PAWS, 125 Wn.2d at 252; RCW 42.56.550(3)).

Court shall take into account the policy of this Chapter that free and open examination of public records is in the public interest, even though such examination may cause inconvenience or embarrassment to public officials or others.

RCW 42.56.550(1); Brouillet v. Cowles Publ'g Co., 114 Wn.2d 788, 794, 791 P.2d 426 (1990) ("The agency must shoulder the burden of proving that one of the act's narrow exemptions shields the records it wishes to keep confidential.").

C. THE COUNTY IS LIABLE FOR PENALTIES BECAUSE IT ACTED IN BAD FAITH

A "person who prevails" has been defined by the Washington Supreme Court as a person who must seek judicial review to determine that the documents were wrongly withheld. Spokane Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 103, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005). The Spokane Research Court held that filing need not be the direct cause of the disclosure, so long as the court determines that disclosure had been wrongfully denied at the time the suit was brought. *Id.* The disclosure of documents prior to judgment does not moot the issue. Fees and costs are still mandatory for the period of time that disclosure was improperly denied from the time of request to disclosure. *Id.*, at 102. Good faith is not a defense. Amren v. City of Kalama, 131 Wn.2d 25, 35, 929 P.2d 389 (1997).

The Supreme Court in **PAWS** emphasized that "[a]gencies have a duty to provide 'the fullest assistance to inquirers

and the most timely possible action on requests for information."

PAWS, 125 Wn.2d at 252 (quoting RCW 42.17.20 (now 42.56.100)).

This duty exists, despite the fact that "such examination may cause inconvenience or embarrassment to public officials or other." RCW 42.56.550(3). And it is abundantly clear that it is not for the agency to interpret the Act: "[L]eaving interpretation of the Act to those at whom it was aimed would be the most direct course to its devitalization." Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 131, 580 P.2d 246 (1978). There is no wiggle room for an agency - it must fulfill its obligations under the PRA. If there is question, the agency must seek clarification from the requestor.

RCW 42.56.565, the statute which requires bad faith on the part of the agency before a court can grant penalties to an inmate does not define what bad faith is. Our courts have determined that a showing of bad faith need not require an intentional bad act. See Francis v. Dept of Corrections, 175 Wn.App. 42, 313 P.3d 457 (2013). In discussing bad faith, Division Two focused on various cases in the PRA context to support its position. *Id.* at 463 (citations omitted). It also looked at cases outside the PRA. *Id.* at 464 (citations omitted). It then considered *Restatement (Second) of Contracts* § 205 (1941), quoted in *Black's Law Dictionary*

(2009). Finally, it looked to the federal Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA") for possible persuasive authority. After consideration, the Francis Court stated, "FOIA cases have no bearing on the meaning of bad faith in this appeal." Francis, 173 Wn.App at 465. Having rejected this argument, it looked to statutory interpretation of RCW 42.56.565.

In rejecting the intentional bad act requirement, the Francis Court looked at the purpose of the PRA and the people's sovereignty. It also looked at how it is interpreted for the requestor to protect the public interest. Francis, 173 Wn.App. at 466. It concluded that inmates are entitled to penalties when an agency does not conduct a reasonable search but not when making a simple mistake or following the law as it existed at the time. *Id.* at 467.

Division Three was next to interpret RCW 42.56.565. See Faulkner v. Wash. Dept. of Corrections, 183 Wn.App. 93, 332 P.3d 1136 (2014). In Faulkner, the Court provided further guidelines on what defines bad faith. Faulkner, *id.* that "[i]ntentional bad faith is associated with the most culpable acts by an agency." *Id.* at 105. It seconded the bad faith finding in Francis that a cursory search and delayed disclosure fell "well short of even a generous reading of what is reasonable under the PRA." *Id.* (citing Francis, 173 Wn.App. at 63.). Faulkner holds that a finding of bad faith requires a finding

of a higher level of culpability than negligence. It requires a finding of a wanton or willful act or omission by the agency.

Id. The **Faulkner** Court applied Black's Law Dictionary to define these terms:

"Wanton" is defined as "[u]nreasonably or maliciously risking harm while being utterly indifferent to the consequences." Further, "[w]anton differs from reckless both as to the actual state of mind and as to the degree of culpability. One acting wantonly may be creating no greater risk of harm, but he is not trying to avoid it and is indifferent to whether harm results or not."

Id. at 103-04 (citing **Black's Law Dictionary**, 1719-20 (9th ed. 2009)(quoting Rollin M. Perkins & Ronald N. Boyce, **Criminal Law** 879-80 (3d ed. 1982))). Putting it more succinctly,

"[p]enalties are owed when an agency acts unreasonably with utter indifference to the purpose of the PRA." Id. at 105.

The **Faulkner** Court endorsed the decision in **Francis**:

"**Francis** is an example of a wanton act made in bad faith--the agency knew it had a duty to conduct an adequate search for the requested records but instead performed a " cursory search and delayed disclosure well short of even a generous reading of what is reasonable under the PRA."

Id. (citing **Francis**, 173 Sn.App at 63).

Benitez will first show that the County is liable for penalties because the County acted in bad faith when it denied his request by claiming invalid exemptions, delaying a response to his request, and failing to provide any explanation of how the County's claimed exemptions applied. He will then ask the

Court to impose penalties based on individual groups of records, using the standard mitigating and aggravating factors the courts consider in determining the penalty amount.

1. The County Acted In Bad Faith When It Relied On Invalid And/Or Inapplicable Exemptions To Deny Penitez' Public Records Request.

The County acted in bad faith when it denied Penitez' records request. The denial was based on invalid and/or inapplicable exemptions. First, RCW 42.56.070(1) did not apply because CrR 4.7 did not qualify as an "other statute" exemption from disclosure.

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