73624-0

73624-0

No. 73626-4-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

CARLOS BENITEZ, JR,

Appellant,

v.

SKAGIT COUNTY,

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

Neither *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash.*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) nor *Brouillet v. Cowles Pub. Co.*, 114 Wn.2d 788, 791 P.2d 526 (1990), which Benitez cited for his argument that CrR 4.7 cannot be an other statute, addresses court rules.

Limstrom v. Ladenburg, 136 Wn.2d 595, 963 P.2d 869 (1998) does not support Benitez' argument that a court rule cannot prohibit disclosure under the PRA either. The issue before the Ladenburg court was whether a non-party could obtain records from a prosecutor's criminal files. The prosecutor opposed release arguing that the records were work product; however, the Ladenburg court held that the work product exemption was "limited to work product as defined in the superior court criminal discovery rule." Limstrom v. Ladenburg, 136 Wn.2d at 602 citing CrR 4.7. The Ladenburg court did not hold that investigative files could not be subject to a specific discovery order or other PRA exemptions.

In 2012, when DPA Miller considered the effect of a court order issued under CrR 4.7, the issue of whether a discovery order in a criminal case that barred a specific person from receiving copies of records would control disclosure under the Public Records Act had not yet been addressed by an appellate court. This issue was not addressed until 2014, when the court of appeals issued its decision in *Dep't of Transp. v.* 

Mendoza de Sugiyama, 182 Wn. App. 588, 330 P.3d 209 (2014).<sup>7</sup> In Mendoza de Sugiyama the trial court granted the Department of Transportation's (DOT) request for a discovery order because the disclosure of more than 174,000 e-mails would have been unduly burdensome for DOT to produce. Mendoza de Sugiyama, 182 Wn. App. at 593. Mendoza de Sugiyama then sought the same records under the Public Records Act. Relying on the discovery order, DOT denied the request. On appeal, the court determined that "whether a protective order resulting from an unduly burdensome discovery request in a separate employment action between the same parties makes the same requested records unavailable within the purview of RCW 42.56.290" was an "issue of first impression in Washington." Mendoza de Sugiyama, 182 Wn. App. at 598.

The key fact before the *Sugiyama* court is similar to a distinction involved in DPA Miller's analysis: when does a discovery order control disclosure of the same records under the PRA? Essentially, the *Mendoza* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> State v. Chargualaf, Slip Op. no. 44712-6-II (Aug. 12, 2014) is another decision that may have changed the DPA Miller's advice because it addressed the issue of whether a trial court could deny release of discovery to a criminal defendant post-trial. CP 248-52. If this issue had been addressed by the courts in 2011 or 2012, (1) the trial court would not have issued the clarifying order or (2) DPA Miller would not have relied on it. (The county is aware that it may not cite unpublished opinions for precedential authority and is not doing so in this matter. As argued before the trial court, Chargualaf is mentioned because it provides useful guidance that the county would have considered if it had been available in 2012. CP 235)

de Sugiyama court held that a general discovery order that was not founded on a privilege did not qualify as an exemption under the PRA.

Had the *Mendoza de Sugiyama* decision been available to DPA Miller, she would have recognized the limitation of CrR 4.7, found that the discovery order was not founded on a privilege, and released the records. On the other hand, that the State's Attorney General argued that a discovery order trumped a request for records indicates that the county's analysis was not so far-fetched that the court can find that it was made in bad faith. See Dep't of Transp. v. Mendoza de Sugiyama, 182 Wn. App. at 602 ("DOT argues further that RCW 42.56.290's exemption applies because under its reading of O'Connor, any time a superior court enters a protective order under CR 26, those records are "not available to another party under the superior court rules of pretrial discovery.") Also see Limstrom v. Ladenburg, 136 Wn.2d 595, 606, 963 P.2d 869 (1998)<sup>8</sup> (holding that a PRA exemption that did not state which superior court rules govern "can result in differing interpretations of the statute, depending on the records requested, the nature of the action to which the records relate, or the forum in which the underlying action is filed.")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The issue in *Ladenburg* was whether the discovery rules under CR 26 or CrR 4.7 applied to determine what records constituted work product that would be exempt from disclosure.

## 2. Benitez does not establish that the county failed to conduct a reasonable search for responsive records.

Benitez cites *Francis v. Dep't of Corr.*, 178 Wn. App. 42, 313 P.3d 457 (2013) for the proposition "that inmates are entitled to penalties when an agency does not conduct a reasonable search." Appellant's Brief at 14. However, he offers no evidence to show that the county failed to conduct a reasonable search or sent the unresponsive records in an attempt to deceive him.

The Sheriff did provide some records that Benitez had not requested under the belief that they were responsive; however, Benitez quickly clarified the Sheriff's confusion.

On August 6, 2012, I mailed Mr. Benitez some records that I believed were responsive to his request. The letter also explained that the county had "not been able to locate any transcripts of any recorded or private conversation and/or communications." Mr. Benitez responded, in a letter dated August 21, 2012, that most of the records were unresponsive to his request. Once the misunderstanding about the requested records was cleared up, I was advised by legal counsel that, except for a Motion and Affidavit for Search Warrant, the requested records were exempt from disclosure.

CP 275. Neither the Sheriff nor DPA Miller ignored Benitez' clarification.

The disclosure of non-responsive records does not establish that the county failed to conduct a reasonable search. DPA Miller never misidentified the requested records or would have advised that they be released until she requested her review. Benitez' claim that the release of non-responsive records demonstrates deceit is unsupported by fact, logic, or authority and is belied by Benitez lack of confusion and the Sheriff's response. He does not offer any evidence that the non-responsive records were doctored to make them look responsive, that the Sheriff fabricated records, or that the Sheriff made false statements about the records. The records were, simply, non-responsive. *See* CP 274 (Chief Molitor declared that he "mailed Mr. Benitez some records that [he] believed were responsive to his request.") Certainly, Benitez does not claim that he was ever deceived.

3. The record does not support Benitez' argument that the denial was made in bad faith because he had previously seen the records.

Benitez argues that the records should have been released to him because he had previously received the records from his trial defense counsel. However, he points to nothing in the record that shows that this "fact" was known to the county.

Neither the 2011 nor the 2012 discovery order would have caused DPA Miller to believe that Benitez had ever received the requested records. Absent contrary evidence, DPA Miller would have relied on CrR 4.7(h)(3), which provides that "any materials furnished to an attorney pursuant to these rules shall remain in the exclusive custody of the

attorney . . ." and that any copies provided to the defendant required redactions approved by the prosecutor or the trial court. Given the criminal court's discovery orders and the absence of evidence that Benitez had ever received the requested records, CrR 4.7 allows for the reasonable assumption that Benitez never had the documents.

Even if he had seen the records previously, such prior disclosure would not necessarily require disclosure of the same records under the PRA. That also is an issue of first impression – whether disclosure can be denied under an applicable exemption if the requester had previously seen the records – that this court need not address because it was not raised before the trial court. *See State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007) (Court "will not reverse the trial court's decision based on an argument raised for the first time on appeal.")

4. Benitez does not deny that DPA Miller had a good faith reason to find that he presented a threat to undercover officers and witnesses.

Benitez would have the court construe the investigative exemptions narrowly; however, *Haines-Marchel v. Dep't of Corrections*, 183 Wn. App. 655, 334 P.3d 99 (2014) gave DPA Miller leeway for a broader reading where nondisclosure is considered essential to effective law enforcement and protection of personal privacy when disclosure would endanger individuals' lives or physical safety:

As shown, under Fischer [v. Department of Corrections, 160 Wn. App. 722, 726-28, 254 P.3d 824 (2011)] and Gronquist [v. Department of Corrections, 177 Wn. App. 389, 399-401, 313 P.3d 416 (2013), review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1004 (2014)], intelligence information can include information about methods of investigation, while investigative records must focus on a particular party. By their nature, the methods of investigation at issue here apply to all informant tips in the prison. If information about general methods must focus on a particular individual, it would never be exempt, contrary to both Fischer and Gronquist. Further, such a reading would risk shrinking the scope of intelligence information to that of investigative records, reducing the former to the superfluous. This would offend the canon of statutory construction that courts should avoid interpretations of a statute that render certain provisions superfluous. See Whatcom County v. City of Bellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996). To avoid these snares, the term "specific" in the exemption for specific intelligence information must be read to require not that the information concern particular individuals, but that it disclose particular methods or procedures for gathering or evaluating intelligence information. The preprinted text described above dealing with methods of evaluating informant statements meets this requirement.

Haines-Marchel v. Dep't of Corrections, 183 Wn. App. at 669.

The findings made by the Skagit County Superior Court that

Benitez presented a significant threat to undercover officers and witnesses supports the broad reading DPA Miller gave to the exemptions. Certainly,

Benitez offers no evidence or argument to contradict DPA Miller's concern about the threat he posed:

From all of the information I held, including the detailed findings from the trial court in its 2011 order barring release of the records to Mr. Benitez, I determined that nondisclosure was essential to effective law enforcement and to the safety of officers and informants. In this case, based on Mr. Benitez' record of intimidation which I learned from DPA Johnson, the very high risk of retaliation against the undercover officers and informants, including neighbors who provided information about the gang's activities, presented a concern that persons would be unwilling to come forward with information to help in future investigations. I certainly had a grave concern for officer and informant safety.

CP 281.

In *King County v. Sheehan*, 114 Wn. App. 325, 57 P.3d 307 (2002), the court concluded, "[a]lthough we do not find the County's arguments against disclosure to be persuasive, they are not so farfetched as to constitute bad faith." *King County v. Sheehan*, 114 Wn. App. at 356-357. In finding an absence of bad faith, the *Sheehan* court noted the County's motivation to protect the safety and privacy of its officers. *Sheehan*, 114 Wn. App. at 356-57. The *Sheehan* court explained:

We sympathize with these concerns; indeed, we empathize with them, for judges are not immune from threats by angry litigants. We also are not insulated from news reports about physicians who perform abortions being identified by name and residential address on anti-abortion websites and

subsequently being murdered, and are not so naive as to believe that police officers who are identified on anti-police websites, such as those run by Sheehan and Rosenstein, by name and home address, and perhaps by residential telephone number and social security number as well, could not thereby be placed in danger or subjected to harassment or identity theft.

King County v. Sheehan, 114 Wn. App. at 340. Thus, bad faith should not be found when reasonable arguments for denial are based on the need to protect the safety and privacy of others. See Leingang v. Pierce County Medical Bureau, 131 Wn.2d 133, 155, 930 P.2d 288 (1997) ("Acts performed in good faith under an arguable interpretation of existing law do not constitute unfair conduct[.]")

Skagit County's conduct is much like King County's conduct in *Sheehan*. Like King County, DPA Miller had an overriding concern for the safety and privacy of undercover officers and witnesses in the fact of judicial findings that Benitez presented a specific threat to them. Although the *Sheehan* court determined that King County erred when it denied a PRA request for the names of all law enforcement officers employed by the county, it also held that erroneous reliance on an exemption did not constitute bad faith:

There is no similar evidence of bad faith here. While the County may dislike Sheehan and his incendiary website, the County's refusal to disclose the full names of its police officers appears primarily to have been motivated by a

desire to protect their safety and privacy--and it is undisputed that Sheehan had, in fact, previously published police officers' home addresses on his website. The County made its decision before the legislature enacted RCW 4.24.680-.700, so that the County did not have an alternate means of attempting to preserve its officers' privacy. Although we do not find the County's arguments against disclosure to be persuasive, they are not so farfetched as to constitute bad faith. Therefore, we hold that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the County acted in good faith. But remand is necessary because good faith does not justify failing to impose at least the minimum statutory penalty of \$5 per day.

King County v. Sheehan, 114 Wn. App. at 356-357.9

The *Sheehan* court observed that a dislike for a person requesting public records does not negate good faith. Here, there is no evidence that any county official had any animus toward Benitez. The decision to deny Benitez' request of June 17, 2012, arose solely from concerns for compliance with the Skagit County Superior Court's orders, compliance with the PRA, and the safety of the public and undercover officers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The *Sheehan* court only remanded for imposition of a penalty because, at the time of its decision, the PRA mandated a minimum penalty of 5 dollars per day. At the present time, the PRA does not set a minimum penalty. *See* RCW 42.56.550(4) ("In addition, it shall be within the discretion of the court to award such person an amount not to exceed one hundred dollars for each day that he or she was denied the right to inspect or copy said public record.") Even so, there would have been no remand had the *Sheehan* plaintiffs been incarcerated at the time of their request.

5. The county's explanation of its denial met the requirement for a "brief explanation" and does not demonstrate bad faith.

The county conceded that it "violated the Public Records Act by not providing all of the records Benitez requested in his letter dated June 17, 2012." CP 213. The county did not concede that its denial letter failed to provide "a brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the record withheld." *See* RCW 42.56.210(3). *Also see* RCW 42.56.520 ("Denials of requests [for public records] must be accompanied by a written statement of the specific reasons therefor.")

Because of the county's concession, the trial court did not have a need to address the adequacy of the county's explanation when it granted Benitez' motion for partial summary judgment. Further, Benitez did not present any argument or legal analysis on this issue in his response to the county's motion for summary judgment on the issue good faith, making this another issue raised for the first time on appeal that the court need not address.

Should the court undertake the review of an issue that Benitez did not present to the trial court, it will find that the county' explanation satisfies the requirement for a "brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the record withheld." *See* RCW 42.56.210(3).

The county's response provided, in part:

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